73032-1

Appeals court of washington

ELSADIG AHMED, No: 73032-1-1 Plaintiff. Case No. 13-2-23510-2 SEA VS. PLAINTIFF'S TRIAL BRIEF GLACIER FISHING CO., LLC, Defendant.



A. The Plaintiff

Elsadig Ahmed is a United States citizen who emigrated from Sudan in 2005 as part of a United Nations refugee program. He was injured while working aboard Defendant's vessel, F/V Pacific Glacier in 2010.

When Mr. Ahmed first arrived in the United States, he worked as a housekeeper in a casino in Iowa. He moved to the Pacific Northwest in 2006 after hearing about the Alaska fishing industry. After a short stint as a housekeeper at the Airport Hilton in SeaTac, Mr. Ahmed Plaintiff's Mal Brief Page 1

To Whom: De GAIZA		
Were you on duty at the time of this injury? (ES NO		
and long had you been on duty when the accident occurred? 2 hcs.		
What part of your body was injured? (Including left or right) Both hands Finger	Tips	
Did you ston work immediately? YES ! (NO).		
Detailed description of accident cattach additional sheets if necessary) Frost Bite or	Fir	iger.
T:Ps		
	11	
What were you doing when the accident occurred? OFFloacing in Freezer H		

Clarici Lion Comba	
Was this your usual work? Yes	
was this your usual from	
Exact location of accident on vessel (e.g. Port Side, 10' Aft of House, Main Deck)	
Freezer hold / cargo hold	
What equipment was involved? _no	
Please identify the specific object which caused your injury:	
Please identify the spectfic object with Please describe your physical complaints: Less of Feeding in Fine for tips	
Have you ever had a similar injury? YES NO	
When:	
Explain:	
Do you believe anyone is to blame for the accident? YES CO	
If "Yes", who?	
Were there any Witnesses to the accident? YES (SO)	
Full Names of all Witnesses (Circle "E" if eyewitness, "K" if person has knowledge of circumstances)	*
E K	
E (K	
How could this accident have been avoided? ? Very cold in hold	
What caused this accident to occur?	
C Sal 5	
7-3-2010 Signature of Injured Person	
	ort is
Date of Report With my signature, I hereby attest to the fact that all of the information provided in this report true and correct to the best of my knowledge.	
true and correct to the best of my letter	



INJURY REPORT FORM

To be completed by injured person

To assure prompt receipt of treatment and benefits, please complete all portions of this form

Injured Person's Name: Elsadia Almed
Social Security #: 481-35-5619
Vessel Name: Pocific Glocier
Date of Injury: 9/14/12
When did you first report this injury? 12:00 AM PM NOON 9/15/17
To Whom: Lettrey C I've MATE
Were you on duty at the time of this injury? YES NO
Tow long had you been on duty when the accident occurred? 2 hours
What part of your body was injured? (Including left or right) Both Finger Tips, feet.
Did you stop work immediately? YES I NO
Detailed description of accident (attach additional sheets if necessary) Elson Reports
That his fingers and feet become cold and poinful with
Pain radiating up his wrists and arm. This
happens white candling - Jeff Ivie For Elsadia
Ahmed Jahn Chrie
There are a second of the seco
What were you doing when the accident occurred? Candling in The factory

Glacier Fish Company Was this your usual work? act location of accident on vessel (e.g. Port Side, 10' Aft of House, Main Deck) in the center of the factory What equipment was involved? Please identify the specific object which caused your injury: Please describe your physical complaints: Have you ever had a similar injury? (YES) When: L Year Explain: Reports This has been happening for 2 years Do you believe anyone is to blame for the accident? YES i If "Yes", who? Were there any Witnesses to the accident? NO 1 YES 1 Il Names of all Witnesses (Circle "E" if eyewitness, "K" if person has knowledge of circumstances) EIKI E! K! How could this accident have been avoided? _ What caused this accident to occur? Signature of Injured Person With my signature, I hereby attest to the fact that all of the information provided in this report is true and correct to the best of my knowledge.

1) Vessel Name: Pacific Glacier 2) Master's Name:	olof ubagen
1) Vessel Name: Idente Goods 3) Name of Injured/Ill Person: Elsadia Ahmed	ss# 481-35-5619
3) Name of Injured/Ill Person: ElSooia ANIVEO	5071.
4) Date of Birth: 08-15-1972	MaleFemale
5) Employee's Home Address: APT 303 16043 Mili	Tory 6 ST Zip JA 98188-3010
6) Home Phone: 206 - 571 - 3299	
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,	of Injury: 14:00 hours
8) Nature of Injury (bruise, laceration, sprain, etc.): Youn	
9) Part of body injured: Fingers, Wrists, feet	
10) Described to Supervisor/Master: 9 15 2017	
11) Was this an (Please check one) Occupational Injury/Illness 📐 Nor	n-work related Injury/Illness
10) L L / Position: Sactory Processor 13) Department:	taclory
14) On Duty: 15) Off Duty: 16) Hours on Duty	at Time of Accident: 2 1001
17) Loss of Consciousness: YesNoFor How Long?	•
18) Was medical treatment necessary? YesNo	
19) If YES, who provided it and what was done?	
20) Was treatment by a Physician Required? YesNo,	If so, Who and Where?
21) Where did accident occur?	
22) What was employee doing when injured? Canding	Claster conding
23) Description of Accident? Final Tips become	Ollya
24) Date employee: Stopped work	eturned to Work:
25) Number of: Restricted Work Days: Lo	st Work Days:

26) Full Names of All Witnesses (check E if eyewitness or K if person has knowledge of circumstances)

Glacier Fish Company
EE
EE
EK
27) Drug/Alcohol Test administered? Yes No (Do immediately if possible)
VESSEL INFORMATION:
1) Location of Vessel: (Latitude/Longitude/Port):
2) Conditions: Sea (wave heights, etc.)
3) Weather: (clear, snow, rain, fog, other)
4) Air Temp: (°F)
6) Visibility: (good, fair, poor) 8) Wind Speed and Direction:
7) Distance: (Miles of Visibility)
9) Tidal Current Speed and Direction FWD AFT
10) Draft: (ft., in.)
11) Navigation Information: Moored, docked or fixed Anchored Underway/drifting
12) Speed and Course:
13) Last Port: Wich Tild Boi
14) Was a separate injury report form filled out? Yes No No
15) Was the person with the injury assisted with filling out the report? Yes No If so, by Whom?
16) Date injury report form was filled out: 9/15/12
17) Person completing Acadent Report form:
18) Signature:
′ /(<i>/</i>



PHYSICAL CAPACITIES EVALUATION

Client: Elsadig Ahmed

e 1 4

Date Of Evaluation: August 28, 2013

Date Of Injury: June, 2010; September, 2012

Diagnosis: Status post frostbite injury, both hands

Physician: Elizabeth Joneschild, MD; William Berg, MD

Referral Purpose: Elsadig Ahmed was referred for this evaluation by his attorney, Bob Anderson, in order to identify functional deficits in both hands, status post frostbite injury. Areas to be evaluated were range of motion, strength, sensory function, dexterity, lifting, and static and dynamic strength in the injured hands, compared to normative values for standardized tests, where available.

Date Of Birth: 8/15/1972

Hand Dominance: Right

Height: 5 ft., 6 in. **Weight:** 160 lb.

Heart Rate: 96

Blood Pressure: 130/86

Medical History: Mr. Ahmed was injured on June 22, 2010, after working for a prolonged period of time in the freezer on a catcher/processor vessel. He sustained frostbite injuries to both hands and both feet. He was treated initially at the Iliuluik Family Health Services facility in Unalaska, Alaska. He returned to the Seattle area and was followed at US Healthworks.

He eventually returned to the same job and was re-injured on September 14, 2012. He returned to Seattle and was followed at US Healthworks and later referred to William Berg, MD, a neurologist, who diagnosed peripheral neuropathy due to the frostbite injury. In late 2012, nerve conduction studies revealed carpal tunnel syndrome in both hands, right worse than left. Mr. Ahmed was referred to Elizabeth Joneschild, MD, at Seattle Hand Surgery, who surgically released the right carpal tunnel syndrome on February 19, 2013.

Mr. Ahmed is still under the care of Dr. Berg for the neuropathy/neuropathic pain due to the frostbite injury.

Occupation At Time Of Injury: Commercial fisherman/processor

Vocational History: Mr. Ahmed stated that his family did farming work in Sudan, and he briefly did housekeeping work before he worked as a commercial fisherman.

Social History: The client said that he is married and has two small children. His parents and siblings live in Sudan.

Present Complaints:

- 1. Mr. Ahmed emphasized that the main problem with his hands is sensitivity to cold temperatures. Even the less extreme cold of the Pacific Northwest causes this reaction. He stated that the finger tips turn white, and with prolonged exposure, the whole hand turns white and the sensory function is impaired. The same thing happens to his feet, and an altered sensation occurs in his whole body.
- 2. If he walks in shoes outside, Mr. Ahmed said, he develops paresthesia in his feet, especially in cooler weather.
- 3. The client reported pain in his hands and feet, especially the fingers. The pain is present all the time, but increases with exposure to cold temperatures.
- 4. He stated that he has limited strength in his hands.
- 5. Mr. Ahmed described paresthesia in the left ring finger and stated that he felt that the knuckle (metacarpophalangeal joint) seemed to rest in an altered position.
- 6. The client reported pain in both wrists (volar aspect) with repetitive use.
- 7. He stated that he drops things when his hands are cold.
- 8. Mr. Ahmed said that he feels a decrease or change in his sexual function, "it's not like before."

Increase Of Symptoms: Symptoms in the hands increase with exposure to cold or repetitive use.

Decrease Of Symptoms: The client stated that he wears gloves with exposure to even mild cold temperatures, heavier gloves with more extreme cold, warms his hands, and takes rest breaks.

Medications: Mr. Ahmed stated that he was taking Gabepantin for pain control and improvement in peripheral nerve function, with good results, but the insurance company no longer reimburses him for the medication, so he stopped taking it. He takes Tylenol occasionally for pain control.

Tobacco, Alcohol And Caffeine Use: Mr. Ahmed said that he does not smoke or drink alcoloholic beverages. He occasionally drinks coffee or tea.

Assistive Devices: The client brought his light weight gloves, which he uses in mild cold weather, and said that he uses heavier gloves if the weather is colder.

Daily Living Skills: Mr. Ahmed scored 36.36 on the Activities of Daily Living section of the QuickDASH functional checklist (lower score indicates lower impairment; 100 indicates most impairment). He scored 100 on the Work section.

Physical Capacities Evaluation, Elsadig Ahmed Page 3

The client reported mild to moderate difficulty with many self care and household tasks. He stated that he often does not sleep well due to pain in his hands. He noted mild impairment when shaving, washing his hair, fastening buttons, and showering. He stated that it is difficult for him to change bed linens because it is painful to place the fitted sheet and tuck in the flat sheet. Heavier tasks, such as vacuuming, washing floors, and carrying heavier objects are difficult. He stated that it is very difficult for him to use scissors or other tools, hold the steering wheel of a car for long periods of time, and hold a telephone for long periods of time due to pressure on the finger tips. Any handling of cold objects causes pain in his hands, and a lack of strength and coordination.

Vocational Goals: Mr. Ahmed has met with a vocational counselor, he said, and had some testing, but has not yet developed a vocational goal.

Pain Evaluation: A visual analogue pain scale rating form was used to help quantify the client's response to the activities he/she was required to perform. The form has a horizontal line, 10 cm. in length, the left side of which represents "No Pain" and the right side, "The Worst Pain Imaginable." The client is asked to make a mark on the line which represents his/her relative pain level. The distance, in cm., is later measured and a numerical value is obtained.

The client rated the pain in his right hand at a 4.5, and the left slightly less than 4.5, before the evaluation.

OBJECTIVE FINDINGS:

Punctuality: Mr. Ahmed arrived punctually for his 8:30 a.m. appointment. He was appropriately dressed and neatly groomed. He was given a 10 minute morning break, and a 45 minute lunch break, and returned promptly from both.

Range Of Motion: Active range of motion was within normal limits for both hands and arms. All finger tips approximated the palmar crease, and both thumbs approximated the head of the 5th metacarpal.

Strength: Measurements in pounds are shown below and compared to norms established by Mathiowetz, et al. Grip strength measurements were taken on the Jamar Dynamometer on the second handgrip span position. Pinch strength was measured on the Preston pinch gauge. Measurements were taken three times each. The averages are shown below. The "C.V." column lists coefficients of variation, "% Diff" shows the difference between the client's score and the mean.

	Right	Mean	C.V.	% Diff.	Left	Mean	C.V.	% Diff.
Gross grasp	37.7 lb.	116.8 lb	22%	-67.7%	35 lb.	112.8 lb	14.6%	-69%
Tip pinch	4.5	17.8	11	-74.7	5	17.7	17	-71.8
Three-jaw pinch	3.8	24.5	7.5	-84.5	4.5	24.8	11	-81.9
Lateral pinch	16.2	25.6	1.8	-36.7	16.5	25.1	9	-34.3

Before and after the evaluation, grip strength measurements were also taken on the Jamar Dynamometer in all five handgrip span positions. Measurements showed a bell-shaped curve pattern, with greater efforts on the middle positions, shown in a study by Stokes

Physical Capacities Evaluation, Elsadig Ahmed Page 4

(1984) to indicate sincere effort. The measurements taken after the evaluation showed similar consistency of effort.

Edema/Circumference:

Volumeter:

A OTHITIC CCT.			
	Before	After	% Change
Right hand	550 ml.	565 ml.	+3%
Left hand	545 ml.	565 ml.	+4%

Circumferential measurements:

	Before	After		Before	After
Right hand, prox. phalanx		1	Left hand, prox. phalanx		
Thumb	74 mm.	76 mm.	Thumb	72 mm.	73 mm.
Index	71	73	Index	66	69
Middle	66	71	Middle	70	73
Ring	65	70	Ring	65	67
Little	60	62	Little	57	60

Sensory Evaluation:

Two methods were used to assess the palmar surface of both hands. Please refer to attached "maps" for graphic representation of results.

Semmes-Weinstein Monofilaments: This test measures the ability to perceive cutaneous pressure. Small monofilaments of fish-line, mounted on plastic rods and varying in diameter, are used to determine the lightest amount of pressure the touch/pressure receptors in the skin can perceive.

The palmar surface of the right hand tested in the Diminished Light Touch range, with the exception of the ulnar pad of the thumb, the distal index finger, most of the middle and ring fingers, and the distal small finger, which were in the Diminished Protective Sensation range. The tips of the index, middle and ring fingers were the most impaired. The dorsal aspect of the right hand tested in the Diminished Light Touch range on the proximal segments of all digits, and in the Diminished Protective Sensation on the distal segments.

The palmar surface of the left hand tested mostly in the Diminished Light Touch range, except for the distal thumb, index, middle, ring and small fingers, which were in the Diminished Protective Sensation range. The dorsal surface of the left hand tested in the Diminished Light Touch range on the proximal portions of all digits except the small finger, which was entirely in this range, and the Diminished Protective Sensation range on the distal segments of the remaining digits.

Two-Point Discrimination:

This test assesses the ability to determine whether the skin is being touched with one point or two.

Physical Capacities Evaluation, Elsadig Ahmed

Page 5

The tips of the digits of the right hand were in the "Fair" range at 6 – 8 mm. The left hand were in the "Normal" range at 5 mm., except for the ulnar aspect of the small finger, which was in the "Fair" range.

DEXTERITY TESTS:

Minnesota Rate of Manipulation: This test involves placement of round discs (1" diameter) in holes on a large board. Motion patterns which involve reaching approximately 18 inches in front of the body on a testing table are required. Percentile scores were as follow:

Right Left
Placing test <1% <1%
Turning test (bilateral) <1%

Mr. Ahmed handled the discs more accurately with the left hand than the right, and had faster times, although still below norms established for this test. He reported fatigue with the right hand after performing this test.

Purdue Pegboard: This dexterity test requires placement of small (1-1/2 inch) pegs in holes on a board with one hand at a time, both hands at the same time, and assembly of a pin, washer and collar. The test is performed at table height with the hands about 15 inches in front of the body. Percentile scores, compared to normative groups, were as follow:

	Male hourly production workers	Male applicants for maintenance & service jobs	Male applicants for general factory work
Right hand	<1	<1	<1
Left hand	1	2	<1
Both hands	1	4	<1
Assembly	3	<1	1

O'Connor Tweezer Dexterity Test: The client was required to use tweezers to insert small pins in a board with small holes. The board is small (approximately 8 inches square) and the work is performed on a table immediately in front of the body.

Mr. Ahmed had significant difficulty when performing this task with the right hand. The test was stopped after 5 minutes because his frustration level appeared to be increasing.

Bennett Hand Tool Dexterity Test: The client uses simple mechanic's tools to disassemble and reassemble nuts and bolts on a wooden frame. The test requires bilateral hand use. When compared to all normative groups, Mr. Ahmed scored below the 1st percentile, except for Applicants for Assembly & Maintenance Positions at a Manufacturing Company, in which he scored in the 3rd percentile.

Following the Dexterity tests, pain ratings were 4.5 for the left hand, and 5.0 for the right.

Physical Capacities Evaluation, Elsadig Ahmed Page 6

FUNCTIONAL STRENGTH TESTS

Maximum Lift Test: All lifts were performed using the WEST II, an apparatus consisting of two sturdy metal uprights with bolt heads mounted every six inches. A weight bar or basket may be hung on the bolt heads. Beginning with 5 lbs., weight is added in 5-lb. increments until it is determined by the client or the therapist that it is not safe to continue.

Mr. Ahmed was able to lift up to 25 lb. to a level of 78 inches (full overhead extension) and lower it to the floor. He was able to lift up to 35 lb. to a level of 66 inches (top of his head) and lower it to the floor. He was able to lift 45 lb. to a level of 30 inches (thigh level) and lower it to the floor.

Unilateral lift: These lifts are performed using a bucket which weighs less than 1 lb. Weight is added as above.

Right: The client was able to lift up to 20 lb. in the bucket and carry it for a distance of 100 feet.

Left: The client was able to lift up to 20 lb. in the bucket and carry it for a distance of 100 feet.

Pain ratings following the Maximum Lift tests were 5 for the left hand, and 5.5 for the right.

Static/Dynamic Strength Tests: Right and left comparisons for static strength are shown below for selected motions and tool handles on the LIDO Workset. All measurements were taken isometrically. Measurements for push/pulling are shown in foot-lbs., pronation/supination in inch-lbs.

	Average Torque	Peak To	rque		% R/L	
	(Coeff.of Variatio	n)				
	Right	Left	Right	Left		
Push	43 (11%)	42 (11%)	47	46	102%	
Pull	82 (5%)	83 (17%)	85	102	83	
Supination	18 (20%)	30 (3%)	31	21	68	
Pronation	25 (8%)	27 (8%)	27	29	93	

Comparisons for **dynamic strength** are shown below in foot-lbs. for push/pulling and inch-lbs. for all other tools. "R/L" refers to Total Work.

	Average Power		Total Work		% R/L	
	Right	Left	Right	Left		
Push	8	11	657	820	80%	
Pull	9	11	681	838	81	
Supination	46	44	4032	3362	120	
Pronation	55	43	4401	3353	131	
Wrist flexion	63	60	4945	3639	137	
Wrist extension	39	37	3083	2355	131	
Grip device	60	83	4232	5398	78	



WORK RELEASE FORM Iliuliuk Family & Health Services, Inc PO Box 144, Unalaska, AK 99685 Telephone: 907/581-1202/Fax: 907/581-2331

PATIENT NAME:DATE:DATE:
DIAGNOSIS:
DATE: DIAGNOSIS: TREATMENT PLAN: MEDICATIONS: ATTN: If having stomach irritation, dark or black bowel movement, discontinuo
ATTN: If having stomach irritation, dark or black bowel movement, discontinue
□ ATTN: Medications can cause drowsiness and should not be taken while working
□ THERAPY
☐ Ice, elevation 15-20 minutes every hours ☐ Stretching as described to patient ☐ Increase rest, fluids ☐ Other
WORK STATUS:
□ Able to return to full duty work on □ Able to return to modified duty from to
□ Able to return to modified duty from to
□ Unable to work until to □ Unable to return to work until further evaluation by
work until further evaluation by
LIMITATIONS/RESTRICTIONS:
□ No restrictions
Temporary restrictions fordays:
Temporary restrictions fordays: Lifting (max weight)pounds
□ Pushing/pullingpounds □ Sittinghrs/day □ Walkinghrs/day □ Standinghrs/day □ No climbing stairs □ Squatting/crawling/kneeling hrs/day
□ Standing hrs/day □ Walkinghrs/day
□ Squatting/crawling/kneelinghrs/day
Repetitive motion restrictionsnrs/day
□ Keep wound clean/dry fordays
□ Other restrictionsdays
property of the state of the st
OLLOW UP CARE AND REFERRALS
□ Return to clinic for f/u on (date)
Referral for treatment (specify type) Recommend referral to specialist
□ Recommend referral to specialist
ROVIDER SIGNATURE
K. Kitchen, PA-C D. J. Neumann, MD. D. A.N. Ebrah, D.C.
S. Basham, PAC R. Stroklund, DO Other (print)

State Fund Claims: Dept of Labor and Industries - Claims Section PO Box 44291, Olympia WA 98504-4291

INSURER ACTIVITY PRESCRIPTION FORM (APF)

Self-Insured Claims: Contact the Self Insured Employer (SIE)/

Bill Code: 1069M State Fund claims, Bill Code: 1073M SI Claims

	Tarry Administrator (TFA)		art notes and reports to Lar or to SIE/TFA as usual				
=	Worker's Name:	Visit Date:	Claim Number:				
	AHMED, ELSADIG	5/20/13					
<u> </u>	Health Care Provider's Name (printed)	Date of Injury:	Diag. 782.0 SKIN SENSATION DISTURB				
General Info	LIU, AMY L., A.R.N.P.	• •	Diag.				
	LIU, AMY L., A.R.N.P. 9/15/12						
ırk?	Worker is released to the job of injury without restrictions as of (date): 05 / 20 / 13 Skip to "Plans" section below.						
§ .	☐ Worker may perform modified duty, if available, from (date): Required: Key Objective Finding(s)						
7 00		ii (uate).	NO EXAM DONE TODAY, DISCUS				
Released for work?	☐ Worker may work limited hours: hours/day f	from (date):	SED CASE FOR 15-20 MINS WI TH PATIENT AND SPOKE TO SC OTT ROBINSON FOR 3-5 MINS				
1	Worker is working modified duty or limited hours: Please estimate physical capacities below and complete the key objective.						
Required:	☐ Worker not released to any work from (date):/	/ to /					
<u> </u>	☐ Prognosis poor for return to work at the job of injury						
Ď.		at any uate					
التم	☐ May need assistance returning to work						
	Capacities apply 24/7, please estimate capacities below and provi	ide key objective finding	ns at right.				
	Capacity duration (estimate days): 1-10 11-20 21-30	30 + permanent	Other Restrictions / Instructions:				
	Marker CAM: 10 1 1 Seldom Occasional	Frequent Constant	SHOULD AVOID WORKING IN COLD WEATHE				
	injury) Blank space = Not restricted Never 1-10% 11-33% 0-1 hour 1-3 hours	34-66% 67-100% Not Restricted	R, WOULD RECOMMEND AGAINST WORKING				
op	Sit	3 6 Hours Restricted	ON FISHING BOATS IN ALASKA IN COLD/ WET ENVIRONMENTS				
	Stand / Walk						
ပိ	Climb (ladder / stairs)						
er	Twist						
4	Bend / Stoop		Employee Notified of Constituted TV-				
š	Squat / Kneel		Employer Notified of Capacities? Yes No				
g g	Crawl		Modified duty available? Yes No Date of contact:// Name of contact:				
₩ .	Reach (Left, Right, Both)						
nat ed	Work above shoulders L, R, B		Name of contact:				
≥ 8e 6/	Keyboard L, R, B		Notes.				
te s	Wrist (flexion/extension)L, R, B						
na les:	Grasp (forceful) L, R, B Fine Manipulation L, R, B						
Required:Estimate what the worker can	Fine Manipulation L, R, B Operate foot controls L, R, B						
	Vibratory tasks; high impact		Note to Claim Manager:				
	Vibratory tasks; low impact		DISCUSSED CLAIM WITH SCOTT. ERIC S TRANDBERG, MANAGING PHYSICIAN WILL				
	Lifting / Pushing Never Seldom Occas.	Frequent Constant	DISCUSS WITH RENEE. PT STATES HE C				
	Example 50 lbs 20 lbs 10 lbs	0 lbs 0 lbs	ANNOT USE FINGERS DUE TO PAIN				
	Lift L, R, B lbs lbs lbs	lbs lbs	States he never had trust bite b				
	Carry L, R, B lbs lbs lbs	lbs lbs	New diagnosis: Glaste +3h.				
	Push / Pull L, R, B lbs lbs lbs	lbs lbs	Opioids prescribed for: Acute pain or Chronic pain				
	Worker progress: ☐ As expected / better than expected. ☐ Next scheduled visit in: days, weeks.						
us	☑ Slower than expected. Address in chart	I	☑ Treatment concluded, Max. Medical Improvement (MMI)				
Required: Plans			Any permanent partial impairment? ■Yes ■No ■Possibly				
	Current rehab: PT OT Home exercise	If you are	If you are qualified, please rate impairment for your patient.				
Je C	☑ Other GABAPENTIN	Will rate					
<u>i</u>	Surgery: ☐ Not Indicated ☐ Possible ☐ Plant						
) je	Comments:	ion needed with:					
'	$\Lambda \cup \Lambda$	nding:					
	1/	<u>-</u>					
Sign	Signature (Required) (206) 682-7418 Date: 05 / 20 / 13						
Š	Doctor MANP PA-C Phone number						
Sec	☑ Copy of APF given to worker te Fund Claims: Fax to claim file, Choose any number.		ng points (on back) discussed with worker				
	ISTORIO LIANCOS CASTOLICANOS DOMENTOS LA LA CONTRACTORIO DE LA CONTRACTORIO DEL CONTRACTO	4NII-UN7-7/707 76	60-902-4565 360-902-4566 360-902-4567				

360-902-5230

360-902-6100

360-902-6252

360-902-6460

GLACIER FISH COMPANY

Copy

D

Westlake Avenue North C Building, Suite 900 Seattle, WA 98109

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