No. 730321-1-I

## COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

# ELSADIG AHMED, *Appellant*,

v.

## GLACIER FISH COMPANY, LLC, Respondent,

On Appeal from the Superior Court of the State of Washington for King County

The Honorable Samuel S. Chung No. 13-2-23510-2 SEA

### **BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

Louis A. Shields
NIELSEN+SHIELDS, PLLC
Attorneys for Respondent

WSBA # 25740 1000 Second Avenue, Suite 1950 Seattle, Washington 98104 Telephone: 206.728.1300

Facsimile: 206.728.1302 Email: las@nielsenshields.com

## **

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

#### D. ARGUMENT

## 1. The Unchallenged Findings Are Verities.

"The party challenging a finding of fact bears the burden of showing that it is not supported by the record." Panorama Vill. Homeowners Ass'n v. Golden Rule Roofing, Inc., 102 Wn. App. 422, 425, 10 P.3d 417 (2000). Unchallenged findings are verities on appeal. In re Marriage of Brewer, 137 Wn. 2d 756, 766, 976 P.2d 102 (1999). Even where the appellant assigns error to a court's findings of fact, but does not provide argument in support of his challenge to these findings, the appellate court also treats such findings as verities on appeal. Valley View Indus. Park v. Redmond, 107 Wn.2d 621, 630, 733 P.2d 182 (1987). Here, Ahmed does not challenge any of the trial court's findings of fact on appeal. Nor does he argue the findings were wrong. Thus, all findings are true.

## 2. Ahmed Fails to Provide A Record Showing Error.

A trial court's decision "is presumed to be correct and should be sustained absent an affirmative showing of error."

State v. Wade, 138 Wn.2d 460, 464, 979 P.2d 850 (1999). An appellate court reviews a trial court's decision following a bench trial to determine whether the findings are supported by substantial evidence and whether the findings support the court's conclusions of law. Standing Rock Homeowners Ass'n v. Misich, 106 Wn. App. 231, 242-43, 23 P.3d 520 (2001), review denied, 145 Wn.2d 1008, 37 P.3d 290, (2001). The appellate court gives great deference to the trial court, interfering in its decision only where it bases its ruling on unreasonable or untenable grounds. Lowe v. Double L Props., Inc., 105 Wn. App. 888, 893, 20 P.3d 500 (2001). As noted above, Ahmed does not challenge any of the factual findings by the trial court. Thus, the remaining issue is whether Ahmed has shown that the trial court's findings do not support its conclusions of law.

Ahmed fails to show the court's ruling was untenable. As the party presenting an issue for review, Ahmed has the burden of providing a record adequate to establish the errors claimed. Id. at 464; see also RAP 9.2, 9.9, 9.10. An "insufficient record on appeal precludes review of the alleged errors." Bulzomi v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 72 Wn. App. 522, 525, 864 P.2d 996 (1994). If an incomplete record fails to affirmatively establish an abuse of discretion by the trial court, the reviewing court should affirm the challenged decision. State v. Sisouvanh, 175 Wn.2d 607, 619-20, 290 P.3d 942 (2012). As noted above, Ahmed neither challenges the factual findings made nor the legal conclusion reached by the trial court in either his Notice of Appeal or Opening Brief. See CP 1441 (Appendix A-2). Nor does he supply a record establishing any abuse of discretion or identifying testimony during trial that shows any error.

Under the terms of RAP 10.3(a)(4), a party is obligated to provide appropriate assignments of error. An assignment error to the "holding" of the trial court without further specificity is too general for proper appellate consideration. See Talps v. Arreola, 83 Wn. 2d 655, 657, 521 P.2d 206 (1974) (citing to Becwar v. Bear, 41 Wn. 2d 37, 38, 246 P.3d 1110)

(1952)). Rather, an appellant must provide "argument in support of the issues present for review, together with citations to legal authority and references to relevant parts of the record." RAP 10.3(a)(6). Arguments that are not supported by any reference to the record or by citation of authority need not be considered. *Cowiche Canyon Conservancy v. Bosley*, 118 Wn.2d 801, 809, 828 P.2d 549 (1992). *Pro se* litigants are held to the same standard as attorneys and must comply with all procedural rules on appeal. *In re Marriage of Olson*, 69 Wn. App. 621, 626, 850 P.2d 527 (1993).

Ahmed's appellate brief, formerly his lawyer's trial brief except that its title has been changed, contains the same fatal flaws of the brief discussed in *Durand v. HIMC Corp.*, 151 Wn. App. 818, 828, n6, 214 P.3d 189 (2009) that notes:

Appellant's brief often fails to justify a review under the rules of the appellate procedure. See RAP 10.3(a), 18.1(b). The appellants frequently fail to assign error to the Trial Court's rulings . . . and seem to ask as to the appeal non-reviewable issues simply because the Trial Court did not rule in their favor....

Ahmed's brief provides no argument in support of the issues for review, no citations to legal authority showing error by the trial court, and no references to relevant parts of the record showing error.<sup>3</sup> Accordingly, Ahmed's appeal lacks substantive merit, and thus, the trial court's judgment should be affirmed.

## 3. The Trial Court Did Not Err in Its Legal Conclusions.

The trial court correctly identified that although this case was brought in Washington state court, all substantive aspects of Ahmed's claims are governed by federal admiralty law. CP 1381, ¶1 (A-1, p. 5, ¶1). See also Clausen v. Icicle Seafoods, Inc., 174 Wn.2d 70, 76, 272 P.3d 827 (2012). To recover on his Jones Act negligence claim, Ahmed must prove by a preponderance of the evidence that Glacier was negligent, and that this negligence caused his injuries. CP 1381, ¶2 (A-1, p.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Glacier could have filed a separate motion to dismiss prior to filing Glacier's brief, but that would only further delayed this case which has already been subject to delay. *See Pugel v. Monheimer*, 83 Wn. App. 688, 922 P2d 1377 (1996).

22, ¶2) (citing Ribitzki v. Canmar Reading & Bates, Ltd. **P'ship**, 111 F.3d 658, 662 (9th Cir. 1997)(elements of a Jones Act claim are duty, breach, notice and causation). An injury alone does not create Jones Act liability; Ahmed must show that Glacier's conduct fell below the required standard of care. CP 1381, ¶2 (A-1, p. 5, ¶2)(citing Gautreax v. Sculock Marine Inc., 107 F.3d 331, 335 (5th Cir. 1997). Moreover, an employer is not liable when an injury arises solely from the ordinary and normal activities or risk of seaman's work in the absence of proof that the complained of injury was caused by the employer's negligence. CP 1381-83, ¶3 (A-1, pp. 22-23, ¶3). In other words, an employer is not required to protect (indeed cannot protect) employees from all types of injuries. Id. (citing Schouweiler v. Western Towboat Co., 2007 U.S. Dist. Lexis 95217 (W.D. Wash. 2007).

Applying the findings in this case, there is no error of law. The trial court correctly noted that at the time of his alleged injury, Ahmed was relatively experienced having

worked in fishing trawlers in Alaska for several years including at other companies. CP 1382-83, ¶7 (A-1, pp. 23-24, ¶7). He worked in the freezer hold and was familiar with the ship's operations including offloading cargo and the risks of working in the obvious cold environment. Id.

The trial court also correctly found that Ahmed was wearing gloves and glove liners when he complained of cold hands. CP 1382, ¶4 (A-1, p. 23, ¶4). Witnesses testified that training was provided before every voyage concerning warming up when needed and crewmembers were permitted to do so. CP 1382, ¶6 (A-1, p. 23, ¶6). There was no evidence that Glaicer prevented crewmembers from leaving the freezer to warm up as needed. Id. Even though the medic did not see signs of frost bite, he directed Ahmed not to work in the freezer. CP 1382, ¶4 (A-1, p. 23, ¶4). Ahmed did not work in the freezer again. Id. When he continued to complain of his hands bothering him, he was taken to a shore side clinic where

he was found able to work, but not in the freezer hold. CP 1382, ¶5 (A-1, p. 23, ¶5).

While the trial court recognized that the standard for negligence under the Jones Act is lower, it correctly applied the evidence and the law to conclude Ahmed had not carried his legal burden that Glacier acted negligently in caring for him. CP 1383, ¶8 (A-1, p. 24, ¶8). It acted reasonably in having him not return to his offloading duties in the freezer hold even though the ship's medic noted no signed of frostbite or injury. Id. It also acted reasonably by finding substitute work on the dock during offloads and at the candling table during regular fishing operations. Id. Accordingly, the trial court correctly found in favor of Glacier and against Ahmed, dismissing his claim for negligence under the Jones Act. As Ahmed assess no error to either the factual findings or the trial court's conclusions of law, the judgment should be affirmed.

## 4. The Issues Raised on Appeal Are Frivolous.

Under the terms of RAP 18.9(a), an appellate court may on its own initiative order a party who "files a frivolous appeal" to "pay terms or compensatory damages" to any party harmed by its actions. An appeal is frivolous if there are no debatable issues upon which reasonable minds might differ and it is so totally devoid of merit that there is no reasonable possibility of reversal. *State ex rel. Quick-Ruben v. Verharen*, 136 Wn.2d 888, 905, 969 P.2d 64 (1998).

Here, the appeal is entirely devoid of merit. Ahmed's issues 1 through 4 appear to be his critiques regarding his legal representation. CP 1441 (A-2, p. 28). Ahmed's complaints about his lawyer's performance are inappropriate in this forum and should have been directed by Ahmed to his counsel. As to Issue 5, Ahmed merely re-states his belief concerning his physical condition without any reference to negligence by Glacier or that its actions caused his injury. Id. As stated above, Ahmed's brief provides no argument in support of the

issues for review, no citations to legal authority supporting that the trial court either erred in its factual findings or misapplied the law, and crucially, makes no references to relevant parts of the record proving such errors. Consequently, Ahmed fails to establish any basis on which his appeal should be granted.

## E. CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, Glacier respectfully requests that the judgment of the trial court on this matter be affirmed in its entirety.